FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
1/21/2020 4:39 PM
No. 51375-7- II

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/29/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98132-9

On appeal from Mason County No. 16-2-00654-3

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

DANIEL ROGERS, an individual,

Petitioner,

v.

# QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION, a Washington Corporation

Respondent.

### PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Scott E. Stafne, WSBA# 6964
STAFNE LAW
Advocacy & Consulting
239 N. Olympic Avenue
Arlington, WA 98223
(360) 403-8700
scott@stafnelaw.com
Attorney for Petitioner

### **

### I. Identity of Petitioner:

Petitioner is Daniel L. Rogers, hereafter referred to as "Sonny" or "Rogers" herein. Sonny was the Plaintiff/Cross-Defendant in the trial court and was the Appellant in the Court of Appeals.

# II. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision for which Review is Sought:

This Petition seeks review of Rogers v. Quality Loan Serv. Corp., No. 51375-7-II, 2019 Wn. App. LEXIS 1737 (Ct. App. July 2, 2019) (Unpublished). This decision was filed on July 2, 2019, and a copy of that decision is attached hereto as Exhibit 1 to the Appendix. Before a motion for reconsideration could be filed Sonny filed for bankruptcy and his former attorney requested the Court of Appeals withdraw its mandate. See Exhibit 2 to the Appendix. While the time to seek discretionary review before this Court was pending, Rogers filed for bankruptcy. Upon notice of the bankruptcy, the Court of Appeals stayed its mandate. See Exhibit 3 to the Appendix. Upon motion the Court of Appeals extended the deadline for filing discretionary review until January 21, 2020. See Exhibit 4 to the Appendix.

### III. Issues Presented for Review:

- 1.) Whether under the circumstances of this case Sonny was entitled to the appointment of counsel under the United States and Washington Constitutions?
- 2.) Whether the superior court erred in determining as a matter of law pursuant to CR 56 the amount of the default where throughout the course of the multiple summary judgment proceedings it was obvious the amount of the default was disputed and there was conflicting evidence of this dispute?

### IV. Statement of the Case:

Factual Circumstances Giving Rise to the Lawsuit

Sonny filed a Chapter 13 bankruptcy on January 4, 2008. This
was converted into a Chapter 7 bankruptcy. The Chapter 7 bankruptcy
extinguished Sonny's personal obligation on the promissory note and
deed of trust lien which gives rise to this Appeal. Clerk's Papers (CP
659–660).

In 2012 Quality Loan Service Corporation of Washington

(Quality) brought nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings pursuant to

Washington's Deed of Trust Act, Chapter 61.24, against Rogers

claiming in its Notice of Foreclosure that he had not paid any money

on his lien since 2007. This was untrue. Sonny had actually paid Chase, as servicer for Well Fargo N.A., an additional \$27,000 which was not reflected in its foreclosure documents.

Indeed, according to the November 14, 2016, Memorandum summary judgment decision by Mason County Superior Court Judge Goodell, Sonny Rogers paid Chase through the Bankruptcy Trustee, in favor of Chase and Wells Fargo substantial additional monies after May 2007. CP 836–848.

There is no dispute that the amounts paid Chase through Sonny's Chapter 13 plan were not timely credited to his account and were not reflected in Chase's 2012 Notice of Default, upon which Sonny's nonjudicial foreclosure was based. This is significant as it shows Chase was prepared to take his home based on an amount in default that it should have known was wrong.

Although Sonny pointed this error out to Chase, it did nothing about it. So, Sonny sued Chase, Wells Fargo, their DTA Trustee Quality, and its owner law firm McCarthy Holthus. CP 1102–1180.

The variations in the billings that Rogers disputed are demonstrated throughout the Clerk's Papers. See also CP 1007–11. In fact, these variations in amounts caused Judge Goodell to deny any

summary judgment as to the amount of the debt. *See* e.g. CP 617, 637–646, 698–699, 701–702, 712–713, 716, 723. After Judge Goodell denied summary judgment with regard to the amount of the debt, Chase filed a motion for summary judgment which was heard by Judge Toni A. Shelton. Judge Shelton found based on the declaration of Evan L. Grageda that Sonny had paid Sonny \$32,475.75 after April 1, 2007, notwithstanding it had previously claimed otherwise. CP 1426.

### The Summary Judgment Proceedings in the Superior Court

The first oral argument was held regarding Defendant Quality and McCarthy-Holthus' Motion for Summary Judgment on June 1, 2015. Sonny filed his opposition papers late. Transcripts, 7–8. Sonny asked for the court to consider his response or to grant him a continuance so his response could be considered. *Id.* at 8–19. The court refused, explaining "[t]he Court holds pro se Plaintiffs to the same standard as they do to attorneys. Certainly, there are times when the Court will grant some leeway when there is a compelling reason to do so." *Id.* at 19.

The Court didn't give Sonny any leeway because his filing was "too" late; the motion to continue was not supported by an affidavit; and because of the totality of the circumstances. *Id.* at 19–20. During

his oral argument the court told Sonny: "So, the Court will only consider those matters that have been presented to the Court properly for review." Transcripts, 27. When Sonny asked if the court would accept evidence, the court responded: "No, I will only consider those matters that have been filed with the Court properly in response to the Motion for Summary Judgment." *Id.* at 28. Rogers responded by stating in pertinent part:

This has never been an attempt by Plaintiff to get out of a debt that may or may not be owed, but rather an effort to get to an accurate status of this account and agree to a workable solution. According to Defendants' own documents and notices, there are an extraordinary number of inaccuracies, including the wrong party laying claim to the Plaintiff's property that have been presented by the Defendant to the Courts and/or on the recorded public records causing untold harm to Plaintiff with clouded title issues, legal costs of defending the title to the property, and years of unwelcome stress on the Plaintiff's family and business.

And that is what has been happening to me and our family. And all I've asked—all I've ever asked is that the non-biased Trustee that is supposed to represent myself as well as the bank look at those documents.

*Id.* at 28–29.

In deciding the court should rule on the motion, the court explained again: "The Court has already indicated that there are certain rules that we have to abide by in Summary Judgment Motions

and that the Court does hold pro se litigants to the same standard as attorneys, . . ." Transcript, 30. The court set the date of June 15, 2015, to announce its decision. *Id*.

In announcing its judgment, the court went through the allegations of Sonny's complaint and dismissed some of the causes of action with prejudice and some without. *Id.* 37–44. The court found that Sonny's complaint and the evidence before it, which should have included Sonny's claims regarding the variations in what he actually owed, did not constitute an unfair and deceptive practice under the CPA and therefore dismissed that claim with prejudice. The court did not consider any other of the CPA elements. *Id.* 41–42. The court also dismissed Sonny's claim that the attempt to nonjudicially foreclose on his home violated the Deeds of Trust Act because the sale did not occur. *Id.* at 42–43. Later in the hearing the court stated: "There is no finding with regard to F, Material Breach of Deed of Trust." *Id.* at 46.

The hearing transcript reflected Sonny had trouble understanding what had been ruled upon at that hearing. Transcript. 49–50.

On or about August 6, 2018, Sonny filed a motion and declaration for Findings of Indigency. CP 476. On August 27, 2015, the

superior court found that certain portions of the record were necessary for review and transmitted the order on to the Supreme Court for review. CP 493–494. The superior court's order does not reference any statute or court rule documenting the basis for this procedure or any notice and opportunity Sonny had with regard to participating in it. *Id.* 

On or about August 6, 2018, Sonny filed a motion and declaration for Findings of Indigency. CP 476.

On August 27, 2015, the superior court found that certain portions of the record were necessary for review and transmitted the order on to the Supreme Court for review. CP 493–494. The superior court's order referring the indigency order to the Supreme Court does not reference any statute or court rule documenting the basis for this procedure. *Id*.

At the third hearing on August 24, 2015, Sonny indicated to the court that he had a "mini-stroke." He asked the Court for a 30-day extension of time to file his brief and participate in oral argument.

Transcript 66–70. Based on his claim of medical disability the court set over the hearing until September 16, 2015. This gave Sonny until September 2, 2015, or approximately eight days to respond to the summary judgment motion.

During oral argument on this summary judgment motion by Quality Sonny again argued that he had been harmed by Quality's attempts on behalf of Chase and Wells Fargo to collect different amounts of money than was actually owed and that this had forced him into bankruptcy. *Id.* at 71. Further, that:

I filed a Chapter 13, the Trustee approved it, here we go. And for 19 months, I paid almost \$2,000, a month, into the plan to not only pay my mortgage, but also to pay the an arrearages. \$500, a month, went towards the arrearages. I did that for 19 months and in 19 months, they collected almost \$37,000 from me - . . .

### Transcripts at 79.

The court, which refused to consider any of Sonny's evidentiary submissions, granted Quality's motion for summary judgment of dismissal, including dismissing Sonny's claim for what the court called "generalized equitable relief." *Id.* at 83–84.

On November 4, 2015, a panel of the Supreme Court issued an order denying Sonny's Motion for Indigency, stating only: "[t]hat the Appellants Motion for the Expenditure of Public Funds is denied." CP 553.

After Defendants Quality and McCarthy Holthus were dismissed, Defendants Chase and Wells Fargo Bank brought a

summary judgment motion, which was argued on September 26, 2016. Shortly before this argument Sonny had requested a disability accommodation pursuant to GR 33, which was granted. He appeared at the oral argument with his Disability Advocate, Kyle Welch. Welch helped Sonny explain the various disparities in Chase's billing materials.

Among the evidentiary materials that Sonny relied and asked the superior court consider was Chase's November 2012 Notice of Default, CP 1033–1037, and Chase's December 2012 Notice of Foreclosure, CP 1028–1029, both of which reported that Chase had not been paid any monies since May 1, 2007. Sonny and his advocate also showed Judge Goodell his bankruptcy records, which established that he had paid Chase approximately \$27,000 since he filed his Chapter 13, which was well after May 1, 2007.

The court granted Defendants Chase and Wells Fargo's motion for summary judgment, except with regard to the amount of the default. The court's Memorandum Opinion Re: The Chase and Wells Fargo Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, CP 836–848, states in this regard:

There is a genuine issue of material fact with regard to the total amount due and owing under the Deed of Trust/ As indicated earlier, an opinion of Eva L. Grageda was provided by the Defendants in support of the total amount that they claim is owing. However, the basis for the opinion is lacking. This information is necessary to determine the appropriate application of payments made after April 30, 2007. While it is clear that plaintiff is in default for failure to maintain the monthly payments required by the Deed of Trust, the total amount of debt is disputed by Plaintiffs and the Defendants have failed to provide adequate support for their calculations. In addition the Defendants have not addressed the right of redemption, if any, that the Plaintiff may have with regard to a foreclosure sale or what costs it believes are recoverable in this action.

### CP at 847.

Thereafter, Defendants submitted a group of computer printouts, which Sonny could not understand, CP 1516–1571; 1674–1720,
and which likely would not have been understood by a jury as
indicating that Chase had received \$32,475.75 from Sonny's
Bankruptcy, *Id.* Transcript at 132. especially in light of these banks'
failure to account for these sums when the nonjudicial foreclosure was
commenced in 2012; some five years after chase claimed Sonny had
been continually in default.

Despite the obvious jury question these circumstances raised about the amount of the default, Judge Shelton granted summary judgment as to the amount of the debt. The Court of Appeals affirmed

because "[t]he superior court correctly determined that the payment history was accurate and correctly ruled that entry of judgment in favor of Chase and the Trust was proper." This was error because these records should not have been found to be credible by either the superior court or the Court of Appeals.

### V. Argument

### This Court Should Grant Discretionary Review of These Proceedings Under RAP 3(4)(b)(3), and (4).

The Court of Appeals held "Rogers fails to identify any constitutional or statutory right to the appointment of counsel for actions under the DTA." That is true. Sonny argued that litigants without counsel in Washington's courts do not obtain justice. Further, that the United States Constitution guaranteed litigants "courts of justice."

As support for the proposition that litigants without counsel do not achieve justice in Washington's courts Sonny cited this Court's 2003 Civil Legal Needs Study<sup>1</sup> (2003 Study) and 2015 Civil Legal Needs Study (2015 Update)<sup>2</sup>. Opening Brief in Court of Appeals (OB),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Last accessed on January 21, 2019 at: https://www.courts.wa.gov/newsinfo/content/taskforce/CivilLegalNeeds.pdf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Last accessed on January 21, 2019 at:

pp. 18–27. But the Court of Appeals refused to consider these official reports as evidence notwithstanding they contained clear admissions about the lack of justice for pro se litigants in Washington's courts. Such admissions included, among others, the lead sentence of the Executive Summary of the 2015 Update, which states:

"Justice is absent for 70 percent of the state's low income Washingtonians who frequently experience serious legal problems."

Two years later in *Selene RMOF II REO Acquisitions II*, *LLC v*. *Ward*, 189 Wn.2d 72, 90-92, 399 P.3d 1118, 1128-29 (2017) this Court decided in a 5-4 split that a *purchaser of a purchaser* from a trustee sale should be allowed to bring an unlawful detainer action against the former owner of the property. The dissent, written by Justices Yu and joined in by Chief Justice Fairhurst and Justices Steven C. González and Sheryl Gordon McCloud, challenged this procedure as being unjust in light of the fact that most victims of foreclosures cannot afford attorneys.

. . . [T]he majority states that Ward "is foreclosed from asserting her title challenge" because "the appropriate time to assert such challenge was prior to foreclosure." Majority at 83. Our jurisprudence on this point is clear and certainly may have determined the outcome of a quiet title action. Nevertheless, this holding highlights another concern: that

https://ocla.wa.gov/wp-

content/uploads/2015/10/CivilLegalNeedsStudy October2015 V21 Final10 14 15.pdf

the remedies available to protect against wrongful foreclosures are insufficient, particularly for low-income homeowners faced with the daunting task of enjoining a trustee's sale without the aid of legal counsel.

Ward's story is not unique in this regard. She seemingly attempted to assert her challenge at the appropriate time, but her case was dismissed before the court could adjudicate the merits. Am. Verbatim Report of Proceedings at 18, 21. The remedies provided under chapter 61.24 RCW are not crafted for the pro se homeowner in mind, resulting in prejudice against those low-income homeowners most at risk of foreclosure. If Ward had had the benefit of legal counsel, this case may have unfolded quite differently.

This lack of legal counsel is critical because RCW 61.24.130(1) does not provide the same protections as the unlawful detainer statute. Under RCW 59.12.030(6), color of title is sufficient to halt the summary proceedings to first resolve the issue of ownership. The trial court acts as a safeguard for the rights of the homeowner whose title may have been fraudulently transferred to the party seeking possession. On the other hand, in nonjudicial foreclosure proceedings, the burden rests with the homeowner to bring a lawsuit enjoining the trustee's sale. While this certainly avoids "time-consuming judicial foreclosure proceedings" and "save[s] substantial time and money to both the buyer and the lender," the lack of judicial oversight carries real consequences that may not, in practice, be alleviated by the remedy provided under RCW 61.24.130(1). Majority at 78 (quoting Peoples Nat'l Bank of Wash. v. Ostrander, 6 Wn. App. 28, 31, 491 P.2d 1058 (1971)). A remedy that few can reasonably access in practice is no remedy at all.

Selene RMOF II REO Acquisitions II, LLC, 189 Wn. 2d at 90–92.

Curiously, Justices Johnson and Wiggins, who along with

Justice Steven González, served as part of the teams which prepared the 2003 Study and/or the 2015 Update ignored the justice issue that Sonny raises here.

As support for the proposition that Washington Courts are required to be Courts of Justice under the United States Constitution, Rogers cited the United States Constitution, the Federalist Papers, and case law as well as recent statements to this effect made by former Chief Justice Fairhurst. OB 15–17; 27–37.

Notwithstanding that Sonny's experience in the Mason County Superior Court was characterized by injustice such as (1) not applying longstanding summary judgment principles to Sonny's arguments and evidence; (2) strict implementation of time limits—notwithstanding a medical emergency—the Court of Appeals ignored these injustices. Indeed, it refused to mention them at all.

It is Sonny's position that courts, in Washington and elsewhere, cannot ignore that they are the branch of government primarily responsible for providing access to justice to the people in these American states.

This Court should revisit and grant review of the question as to whether courts in Washington have the responsibility to provide

justice for all the people or can choose to be only servants of the rich by ducking consideration of this "justice issue" that it has itself identified.

Rogers also argued that he was entitled to an attorney under the due process clause of the United States Constitution where justice was likely to be absent if he did not have an attorney. Rogers argued that this was so because a situation in which the courts would not provide litigants with justice demanded that court's examine those "distinct factors" set forth in *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893 (1976) in civil cases such as was done in *Lassiter v. Department of Social Servs. Of Durham Cty.*, 452 U.S. 18, 101 S. Ct. 2153 (1981) at pages 25-27.

In balancing *Mathews* three factors, *i.e.* 1) the nature of the private interest; 2) the State's interests; and 3) the risk of an erroneous deprivation of a right, the Supreme Court noted in *Lassiter* that the nature of the private right being protected was "[a] parent's interest in the accuracy and justice of the decision to terminate his or her parental status." *Id.* at 27. (Emphasis Supplied) The same injustice is at stake here.

The Supreme Court stated with regards to the government's interests: "Since the State has an urgent interest in the welfare of the

child, it shares the parents interests in an accurate and just decision."

Id. The same is true here where foreclosures are ravishing our

communities and hurting everybody but the banks, like the too big to

fail defendants here.

Finally, the Supreme Court considered the risk the parent would be erroneously deprived of her child because the parent is not represented by counsel. The Court first observed in this regard that North Carolina sought to ensure an accurate decision by establishing numerous procedures to ensure accurate and just State court decisions. Lassiter, supra, 428 U.S. at 28-29.

Relying on these alternative procedures to provide fairness (a situation which at least four members of this court did not exist here, see Selene, supra) the United States supreme court that the likelihood of an unjust decision was not so compelling as to mandate appointment of counsel. However, the Court cautioned: "In its Fourteenth Amendment, our Constitution imposes on the States the standards necessary to ensure that judicial proceedings are fundamentally fair."

A serious constitutional issue affecting the substantial public interests of the State of Washington exists with regard to whether its courts can ignore the absence of justice within a judiciary which was once defined by itself as a temple of justice. Rogers claims that such review of the "justice issues" is warranted because (1)because a significant question of law under the Constitution of the United States is involved (see RAP 13.4(b)(3)) and (2) because this petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. (See RAP 13.4(b)(4))

### <u>The Lower Courts Treated Rogers Worse Than They Would Have</u> Treated Attorneys.

The Defendant/Appellees Chase and Wells Fargo sent out notices incorrectly stating the amount purportedly due under the Note and Deed of Trust. CP 1429–1431,  $\P\P$  3 & 4; 1453,  $\P$  2 . Sonny asserts that sending borrowers contradictory statements regarding the amount due, by a factor of tens of thousands of dollars, constitutes a default of the promissory note and the deed of trust. CP 1429–1431,  $\P\P$  3 & 4; 1453,  $\P$  2.

The fact that the Note Holder or its agents had previously sent out contradictory bills and had not provided any testimony explaining how the \$30 plus thousand payments in the bankruptcy were handled creates issues of fact as to whether Chase's most recent estimates are accurate; how Chase and Wells Fargo could have made such an enormous mistake. It also calls into question the financial credibility

and integrity of these financial creditors.

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