FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/4/2020 8:33 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 98132-9 (Court of Appeals No. 51375-7-II) (Mason County Superior Court No. 14-2-00045-0)

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DANIEL L. ROGERS,

Petitioner,

v.

### QUALITY LOAN SERVICE CORPORATION OF WASHINGTON, et al.,

Respondents.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. AND WELLS FARGO BANK N.A. AS TRUSTEE FOR THE WAMU MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES SERIES 2005-PR1'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR

REVIEW

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT.

Mr. Rogers seeks review of two issues: (1) whether he was entitled to counsel; and (2) whether the trial and appellate courts followed summary judgment law when they found he failed to show a factual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Rogers's statement of issues does not present for review here the appellate court's opinion on his Consumer Protection Act claim.

dispute about his default amount. Pet. at 2. But he fails to provide any compelling reason or constitutional basis for this Court to review either issue because he is not entitled to counsel and did not establish a factual dispute.

### A. Mr. Rogers's Right-to-Counsel Argument Does Not Raise Any Public and Constitutional Issues To Review.

Mr. Rogers's brief centers on his claim that the trial court should have appointed counsel. He is wrong; and because he waived his argument and has no right to counsel, there is nothing for this Court to review.

### 1. Mr. Rogers Waived his Right to Counsel Arguments.

Mr. Rogers did not raise his right to counsel issue before the trial court. In 2015-2016, Mr. Rogers filed a fee waiver motion with the trial court; he argued the Courts should treat him leniently and give him more time to respond to motions. CP 476-94. But he did not make a right to counsel argument in the trial court, as the appellate court correctly found. *Rogers*, 2019 WL 2774320 at \*3. "Generally, this court will not review any claim of error that was not raised in the trial court." *State v. Strine*, 176 Wn.2d 742, 749 (2013); RAP 2.5. Thus, Mr. Rogers waived his right to counsel argument because he did not raise it below.

While RAP 2.5(a) allows a party to assert constitutional issues that it did not raise in the trial court, Mr. Rogers fails to satisfy the exception because the record is insufficient to fulfill it. The record is insufficient because he never claimed a constitutional right to counsel below. "If the record from the trial court is insufficient to determine the merits of the constitutional claim, then the claimed error is not manifest and review is not warranted." *State v. WWJ Corp.*, 138 Wn.2d 595, 602 (1999). But even if he had argued the issue (and he did not), he has no right to counsel.

#### 2. Mr. Rogers is Not Entitled to Counsel.

Mr. Rogers concedes the appellate court correctly found he failed to identify a constitutional or statutory right to counsel: "The Court of Appeals held 'Rogers fails to identify any constitutional or statutory right to the appointment of counsel for actions under the DTA.' That is true." Pet. at 11. But he claims Washington law gives him a right to counsel because otherwise, he would not obtain justice. He also asserts federal constitutional due process gives him a right to counsel. He is wrong.

### a. Washington Law Does Not Require Counsel on Foreclosure Cases.

Mr. Rogers does not have a Washington constitutional right to counsel, as this Court has already held. "We hold there is no constitutional right to appeal at public expense in civil cases in which only

10

property or financial interests are threatened." *In re Grove*, 127 Wn.2d 221, 240 (1995). The Trust's judicial foreclosure only threatened Mr. Rogers's property interests.

Mr. Rogers argues that pro se litigants do not receive justice because they often cannot afford attorneys. Pet. at 11-14. He ignores that this Court (the Supreme Court) already found that he was not indigent. CP 552-53.<sup>4</sup> And he does not point to any statutory or constitutional provision that requires appointed counsel. He has no general right to counsel because no one threatened to divest him of a physical or fundamental liberty.

### b. Federal Law Does Not Require Counsel in Foreclosure Cases.

Under the federal Constitution, "there is no absolute right to counsel in civil proceedings." *Hedges v. Resolution Tr. Corp.*, 32 F.3d 1360, 1363 (9th Cir. 1994). While there is a federal right to counsel in some circumstances, that right is even more limited than under Washington law because: "such a right has been recognized to exist only where the litigant may lose his physical liberty if he loses the litigation." *Lassiter v. Dep't of Soc. Servs. of Durham Cnty.*, *N.C.*, 452 U.S. 18, 25

11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mr. Rogers claimed in his motion that his counsel withdrew because he could not afford it, but the same counsel now represents him here. CP 476-94.

(1981). Ignoring this, Mr. Rogers argues that *Lassiter* and *Mathews v*. *Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 335 (1976) require appointed counsel. But *Lassiter* analyzed *Mathews* and reaffirmed that the federal Constitution requires appointed counsel **only** when a party may lose his physical liberty. *Lassiter*, 452 U.S. at 31-33.

Here, Mr. Rogers did not lose his physical liberty—the trust merely foreclosed on his property—as he agreed it could do in the Deed of Trust securing the loan he defaulted on. This affects liberty even less than in Lassiter, because there, the United States Supreme Court held a parent has no right to counsel in a hearing to terminate parental rights. And federal courts recognize that foreclosure does not trigger the federal right to counsel. "The State of [Washington] did not violate [Rogers's] constitutional rights when it failed to appoint [him] counsel in [his] foreclosure action." Swindell v. Accredited Home Lenders, Inc., 442 Fed. Appx. 444, 445 (11th Cir. 2011) (unpublished); Marks v. Cook, 347 Fed. Appx. 915, 917 (4th Cir. 2009) (unpublished).

# 3. Mr. Rogers Has No Right to Be Treated Differently Than an Attorney.

The appellate court correctly rejected Rogers's arguments that the trial court treated him unfairly, because it treated him better than an attorney. *Rogers*, 2019 WL 2774320 at \*4.

#### a. Mr. Rogers Waived Review.

Here, Mr. Rogers's argument consists of a section heading and a throw-away sentence implying the trial court would have found a factual dispute if counsel had represented him. Pet. at 17, 19. But because he failed to include this issue in his Petition's statement of issues, he waived review. Pet. at 2. "We decline to review portions of Court of Appeals decisions when the petition or answer fails to clearly state the issues for review pertaining to these portions." *State v. Coria*, 146 Wn.2d 631, 655 n.8 (2002).

### b. Mr. Rogers Must be Treated Like an Attorney Under Washington Law.

Even if Mr. Rogers had preserved this issue, and he did not, he ignores that Washington courts "must hold pro se parties to the same standards to which it holds attorneys." *Edwards v. Le Duc*, 157 Wn. App. 455, 460 (2010); *In re Marriage of Olson*, 69 Wn. App. 621, 626 (1993). Thus, he has no right to be treated differently under state law.

### c. Mr. Rogers Must be Treated Like an Attorney Under Federal Law.

Federal law is similar to Washington law. While federal law construes pleadings filed by pro se parties less stringently than those filed by attorneys, that standard is a procedural, not constitution-based rule. *See Haines v. Kerner*, 404 U.S. 519, 520–21 (1972). Generally applicable

federal procedural rules do not apply in state court. *Maytown Sand & Gravel, LLC v. Thurston Cnty.*, 191 Wn.2d 392, 446 (2018), *as amended* (2018), *abrogated on other grounds by Yim v. City of Seattle*, 194 Wn.2d 68 (2019); *Johnson v. Fankell*, 520 U.S. 911, 918–21 (1997). But even under the laxer federal law standard, a pro se litigant must follow federal procedural rules. "[W]e have never suggested that procedural rules in ordinary civil litigation should be interpreted so as to excuse mistakes by those who proceed without counsel." *McNeil v. United States*, 508 U.S. 106, 113 (1993); *see also Faretta v. Cal.*, 422 U.S. 806, 834 n.46 (1975) ("The right of self-representation is not a license to abuse the dignity of the courtroom. Neither is it a license not to comply with relevant rules of procedural and substantive law").

## d. The Trial Court Treated Mr. Rogers Fairly.

Mr. Rogers implies the trial court treated him unfairly by excluding his untimely October 5, 2017 "declaration" (which he contends creates a factual dispute—it does not) because he represented himself.

Pet. at 18-19. It did not because a trial court has discretion to exclude untimely filings. *Idahosa v. King Cnty.*, 113 Wn. App. 930, 937 (2002), *as amended* (2002). He also wrongly implies a trial court would consider an attorney's untimely filings, despite case law showing the

opposite. *See, e.g.*, *id.*; *Southwick v. Seattle Police Officer John Doe #s 1-5*, 145 Wn. App. 292, 301 (2008); *Ashton-Tate Corp. v. Ross*, 916 F.2d 516, 520 (9th Cir. 1990). And he fails to argue that the trial court's decision would have been different had it considered his untimely filing.

Neither federal nor state law require that the trial court judge must negate Mr. Rogers's arguments or do his work for him simply because he was pro se: a "district court does not have a duty to search for evidence that would create a factual dispute. . . . A district court lacks the power to act as a party's lawyer, even for *pro se* litigants." *Bias v. Moynihan*, 508 F.3d 1212, 1219 (9th Cir. 2007); *Edwards*, 157 Wn. App. 464 ("On this record, it appears that the trial court felt obliged to assist a pro se litigant, but the trial court must treat pro se parties in the same manner it treats lawyers").

Ultimately, the trial court treated Mr. Rogers better than it was required to. While the trial court found he had not provided any timely evidence contradicting the loan balance the Trust proffered, it still considered his lengthy arguments—the hearing transcript on the second summary judgment motion is 52 pages—where he argued over the omitted documents' contents. RT 188-90, 191-95, 198-236, 238-40. The trial court compared the evidence the Trust proffered to Mr. Rogers's "facts," finding that the servicer *did* credit the amounts he contended it omitted.

RT 238:18-239:6, 239:18-240:13. The trial court also gave Mr. Rogers several breaks to accommodate his needs. RT 196, 209, 215, 226-27. There is no basis to review the trial and appellate courts' decisions because the trial court was more than fair with Mr. Rogers.

# B. The Appellate Court's Opinion Does Not Conflict With Summary Judgment Law.

Although Mr. Rogers buries it deep within his Petition, he argues this Court should also review this matter under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (2) because he contends the appellate court should have found a factual dispute. Pet. at 19. He is wrong because both the appellate and the trial courts considered the admitted evidence and arguments and correctly found no factual dispute.

# 1. The Trust Provided Evidence that the Servicer Credited the Payments Mr. Rogers "Disputed."

For the second summary judgment motion, the Trust provided a declaration and detailed transaction and payment history showing what was unpaid and due. CP 1633-36, 1673-20. The payment history showed numerous credits, including ones for \$14,440.00 and \$18,035.75 (for a total of \$32,475.75) which match the bankruptcy payments Mr. Rogers relies upon. CP 1426, 1711, 1716. Thus, the Trust met its burden and Mr. Rogers failed to rebut that evidence to show a dispute.

### 2. Mr. Rogers Failed to Provide Any Evidence Creating a Factual Dispute.

Instead of timely opposing the second motion, Mr. Rogers filed an untimely declaration from his then-former counsel on September 26, 2017. CP 965-91. He also filed documents on the October 5, 2017 hearing date. CP 991-1071. He claims these documents show the servicer did not credit \$32,475.75 (consisting of \$14,000 and \$18,000 payments) he paid in his bankruptcy case; but again, he is wrong, because the record shows the opposite. CP 607; RT 209-12, 215-17.

For Mr. Rogers's September 26 documents, his Petition argues he showed a factual dispute, but he again fails to cite evidence—he only cites the Note and Deed of Trust, which are irrelevant to the payment issue. Pet. at 17; *Matter of Estate of Lint*, 135 Wn.2d 518, 531–32 (1998), *as amended* (1998). In any event, the trial court correctly held the September 26 documents (in particular, one letter) did not create a factual issue because they did not contradict the Trust's evidence on the amount due. CP 965-91; RT 196, 238-21. The trial court explained why:

And the issue that Mr. Rogers is pointing out is that the total that is said to be due in this letter [found in his September 26 documents, CP 979-981] does not match the

total that is claimed due at this time.

That is not what this letter says. The letter indicates that these are the monthly payments that are in arrears, plus interest, escrow payments that weren't made, late fees—

and gives a total with regard to that figure. But what we're here today to look at is the principal balance after an acceleration of the loan. And so, that is not raising an issue of material fact.

RT 238:18-239:6.

The trial court also properly ignored the October 5, 2017 documents because they were late under CR 56(c). West v. Wash. State Ass'n of Dist. & Mun. Court Judges, 190 Wn. App. 931, 943–44 (2015); Johnson v. Horizon Fisheries, LLC, 148 Wn. App. 628, 638–41 (2009) (affirming dismissal for local rule violation). Mr. Rogers argues the trial court could not omit an untimely declaration if the declaration created a factual issue. He ignores that the trial court allowed him to try to dispute the amounts the Trust proffered (he failed to do so) and argue the contents of his declaration. RT 191, 209-36.

Nor does Mr. Rogers show how the October 5 documents would have created a factual issue in any event. He argues that they show the servicer did not credit the \$32,475.75 that he paid in his bankruptcy case. Pet. at 17; CP 607; RT 209-12, 215-17. But there is no factual dispute because the trial court found that the servicer credited the payments:

Mr. Rogers indicated that he didn't believe he got credit for an \$18,000 payment. The Court located on page 32 at reference number 35 a payment in the amount of \$18,035.75 being credited. Thereafter, on page 31, there are eight payments that are credited on page 30. There is

an additional payment that's credited and we're still in the year 2009.

On page 29, there are payments — six payments that are credited. On page 27 at reference line 74, there's a payment credited of \$14,440. And again, that was a specific amount – \$14,000 – that Mr. Rogers did not believe was credited. And further, the page 27 –

MR. ROGERS: No, that's credited.

THE COURT: Do not interrupt me. On page 27, there's also an additional payment credited as well as page 26 that has seven payments credited. And so, the Court – all in this timeframe of 2009, 2010, now I'm up to page 24, lines or reference numbers 94 and 92, two more payments credited. So, the Court finds that the attempt to raise issues with regard to non-payment or non-crediting payments that were made does not raise an issue of material fact.

RT 239:18-240:13. Mr. Rogers did not show a factual dispute because none existed. The trial court correctly granted summary judgment, as the appellate court correctly affirmed.

#### V. CONCLUSION.

Mr. Rogers's Petition fails to identify any conflict of law, constitutional issue, or public interest issue. He is not entitled to counsel and did not show a factual dispute. The Court should deny his Petition.